RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jun 17, 2016, 11:27 am

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Court of Appeals No. 47395-0-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TODD BAKER and THERESA BAKER,
Petitioners
v.

PENNYMAC LOAN SERVICES, LLC;
NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC,
Respondents

REVISED PETITION FOR REVIEW

David A. Leen, WSBA #3516 Amanda N. Martin, WSBA #49581 Northwest Consumer Law Center 520 E. Denny Way Seattle, WA 98122 Telephone: (206) 805-0989

I. IDENTITY OF PETITION

Petitioners Todd and Theresa Baker ("the Bakers"), appellants in the Court of Appeals, ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Bakers seek review of the decision in *Baker v. PennyMac*Loan Services, Case No. 47395-0-II, filed May 10, 2016, by Division Two of the Court of Appeals. A copy of the decision is included in the Appendix attached hereto as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether this Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals decision affirming the Clark County Superior Court's denial of the Bakers' motion for relief from judgment pursuant to CR 60(b) based on:

- 1. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3), a significant question of law of the United States is involved as the United States Supreme Court unanimously held in *Jesinoski* that a consumer does not need to file suit for a Truth in Lending Act (TILA) rescission to be effective and as such, the Court of Appeals' decision upholds a void rescission.
- 2. Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), this case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Washington

Supreme Court as homeowners who effectively rescind their mortgage should not be faced with foreclosure.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Procedural History</u>

Todd and Theresa Baker ("the Bakers") exercised their right to rescind their mortgage loan under the Truth in Lending Act (TILA) on May 28, 2009. CP 74. While the Bakers sent written notice of the rescission within the statutorily required three year period, they did not file suit to enforce the rescission (CP 130-143) within those three years from the date the loan was consummated.

PennyMac Loan Services, LLC ("PennyMac"), a purported servicer of the rescinded mortgage loan, acknowledged receipt of the rescission notice but refused to recognize its effect. CP 22. On or around September 2010, PennyMac initiated a nonjudicial foreclosure action against the Bakers' property. CP 47. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc. (NWTS) was appointed by PennyMac to be the trustee for the nonjudicial foreclosure. CP 47. On April 6, 2011, the Bakers filed a complaint against PennyMac and NWTS, requesting an injunction to stay the foreclosure and a declaratory judgment that the loan was properly rescinded, among other relief. CP 130-143.

The Clark County Superior Court enjoined the foreclosure and

required the Bakers to post a bond and make monthly payments into the registry of the court pending resolution of the claim.

On July 12, 2012, PennyMac and NWTS moved for summary judgment. CP 20. The Clark County Superior Court granted summary judgment in favor of PennyMac and NWTS. CP 6-10. In regards to the rescission claim, the trial court concluded in an advisory letter that the Bakers' "claim is time-barred for failure to file suit within three years of loan consummation." CP 7. The letter also stated that the Bakers "failed to establish they could tender proceeds of the loan." *Id.* The foreclosure was not resumed at that time.

On January 13, 2015, the Supreme Court of the United States reversed *McOmie-Gray v. Bank of America Home Loans*, 667 F.3d 1325 (9th Cir. 2012), and other similar cases, and unanimously held that a borrower need not file suit within three years of loan consummation to exercise his right to rescind under TILA, only submit written notice. *Jesinoski v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.*, 135 S. Ct. 790, 190 L. Ed. 2d 650 (2015).

Upon learning of the decision in *Jesinoski*, the Bakers promptly filed a Motion for Relief from Order & Judgment Pursuant to CR 60 ("Motion"). CP 98. The Clark County Superior Court denied the Motion on March 9, 2015. CP 161. The Bakers filed a Notice of Appeal on

March 26, 2015.

The Court of Appeals did not schedule oral argument, and on May 10, 2016, Division Two of the Court of Appeals filed an unpublished opinion terminating review.

B. <u>Factual History</u>

The Bakers obtained a mortgage loan from Paramount Equity
Mortgage ("Paramount") on May 31, 2006. CP 38-48. After learning of
multiple violations in their loan transaction, the Bakers exercised their
rescission rights under TILA on May 28, 2009. CP 74. The Bakers sent a
written notice of rescission to MorEquity, who claimed to be the owner of
the loan at the time. CP 74. The Truth in Lending Act mandates that a
notice of rescission negates the mortgage (or deed of trust) and requires
the lender to return the loan proceeds and then requires the borrower to
tender the balance of the loan. When the Bakers exercised their rescission
rights, they were current on their mortgage. CP 38. The Bakers were able
to tender the mortgage principal at the time of rescission, had made
arrangements to do so prior to rescinding, and made this known in their
rescission letter. CP 38-48.

After the Bakers exercised their right to rescind, PennyMac purportedly took over servicing of the subject loan. CP 83. PennyMac conceded it had been notified of the rescission, but refused to recognize its

validity as the rescission "was past the 3-day rescission period provided for by the Truth in Lending Act." CP 84; CP 136. While the Bakers were aware that PennyMac refused to recognize the rescission, the Bakers continued to make payments on the mortgage loan, relying on PennyMac's representations that it would not recognize the rescission as valid and that it would initiate foreclosure proceedings. CP 83; CP 136 (at Paragraph 3.25). The Bakers continued to make payments until they obtained representation and their attorney advised them to stop, as the loan had been properly rescinded under the TILA. CP 38-48. PennyMac then initiated a nonjudicial foreclosure action against the property on or around September 2010. CP 38-48.

In April 2011, the Bakers filed a complaint against PennyMac and NWTS, seeking enforcement of the rescission along with an injunction to stay the foreclosure, among other relief. CP 130. The Clark County Superior Court granted an injunction halting the foreclosure but later granted summary judgment in favor of PennyMac and NWTS, finding that the Bakers' rescission claim was time-barred because they failed to file suit within the three year period. CP 6-8. The superior court also found that the Bakers did not establish facts showing they could tender the proceeds of the loan. *Id.* The trial court awarded PennyMac \$14,036.88 in attorneys' fees. *Id.*

On January 15, 2015, the Supreme Court of the United States decided Jesinoski v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., 135 S. Ct. 790, 190 L. Ed. 2d 650 (2015). There, the borrowers, just like the Bakers, rescinded their mortgage loan by sending written notice, but not filing suit, within the required three year period. Id. at 791. The mortgage servicer refused to recognize the rescission as in the instant case. Id. In a unanimous decision, the Supreme Court held that "a borrower exercising his right to rescind under the Act need only provide written notice to his lender within the 3-year period, not file suit within that period." Id. at 790. In the opinion, Justice Scalia wrote that the statutory language of TILA "leaves no doubt that rescission is effected when the borrower notifies the creditor of his intention to rescind" and that the statute "nowhere suggests...that a lawsuit would be required" to effectively rescind under TILA. Id. at 792-793. In regards to the supposed tender requirement, Jesinoski states:

It is also true that [TILA] disclaims the common-law condition precedent to rescission at law that the borrower tender the proceeds received under the transaction. 15 U. S. C. §1635(b)...The clear import of §1635(a) is that a borrower need only provide written notice to a lender in order to exercise his right to rescind. To the extent §1635(b) alters the traditional process for unwinding such a unilaterally rescinded transaction, this is simply a case in which statutory law modifies common-law practice.

Id. at 793 (emphasis added).

After learning of *Jesinoski*, the Bakers promptly filed a Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to CR 60. CP 98. The Clark County Superior Court denied the Motion on March 9, 2015. CP 161. PennyMac and NWTS then scheduled a foreclosure sale. In the face of this appeal (and lis pendens), the nonjudicial foreclosure against the property was conducted on June 26, 2015.

On May 10, 2016, Division Two of the Court of Appeals filed an unpublished opinion terminating review and affirming the superior court's denial of the Bakers' motion for relief from judgment. The Court of Appeals found that the superior court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for relief from judgment under CR 60(b)(6) because the summary judgment dismissal did not have prospective application. The Court of Appeals also found that the superior court did not abuse its discretion in denying the Bakers' motion for relief from judgement under CR 60(b)(11) because it found that extraordinary circumstances did not exist here.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Summary of Argument

This Court should accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the Court of Appeals' decision affirms an order which allowed the

nonjudicial foreclosure of a void mortgage in conflict with the statutory language of the Truth in Lending Act and the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Jesinoski*. 135 S. Ct. 790 (2015). As the mortgage loan was void per the plain language of TILA and *Jesinoski*, relief from judgment should be granted under CR 60(b)(6) as prospective application is inequitable and under CR 60(b)(11) as extraordinary circumstances exist. This Court should also accept review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' decision substantially impacts public interest as it allowed foreclosure of a void mortgage loan.

B. This Court Should Accept Review Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3)
as the Decision of the Court of Appeals Conflicts with the
Statutory Language of TILA and the United States Supreme
Court's Holding in Jesinoski

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) as there is a significant question of law of the United States involved.

When a borrower is entitled to rescind under TILA and sends a written, valid notice of rescission to the owner of their mortgage loan, the mortgage loan automatically becomes void. *See* National Consumer Law Center, Truth in Lending (8th ed. 2012), at 659 ("by operation of law, the security interest *automatically* becomes void..."). The Truth in Lending Act gives a borrower three years from consummation of the loan to send written notice of rescission when certain disclosure requirements are

violated. 15 U.S.C. § 1635(f). Prior to the issuance of *Jesinoski*, the Ninth Circuit imposed an additional requirement, not in the statutory language of TILA, that a borrower must file suit to enforce the rescission within three years from consumation of the loan. *McOmie-Gray v. Bank of America Home Loans*, 667 F.3d 1325 (9th Cir. 2012).

The Bakers sent their notice of rescission well within the three year time period and thus their mortgage loan was void under the clear language of TILA. 15 U.S.C. § 1635(f). The Bakers later filed suit to enforce their TILA rescission after PennyMac refused to honor it. As the Bakers filed suit in the pre-Jesinoski era, the superior court imposed the now-rejected McOmie-Gray three year requirement to file suit and thus dismissed the Bakers' claims.

In *Jesinoski*, the United States Supreme Court overturned *McOmie-Gray* when it unanimously held that the statutory language of TILA imposes no requirement to file suit within three years to enforce a rescission, and as such, a mortgage loan is void when a valid notice of rescission is sent. 135 S. Ct. 790 (2015).

After the issuance of *Jesinoski*, the Bakers immediately requested relief from judgment pursuant to CR 60(b)(6) as prospective application of the summary judgment dismissal after the issuance of *Jesinoski* is inequitable when their mortgage loan was void and pursuant to CR

60(b)(11) as extraordinary circumstances exist including the United States Supreme Court's clarification of the effect of a TILA rescission in *Jesinoski*. Moreover, it directly conflicted with federal law. The superior court refused to grant relief, and the Court of Appeals affirmed, finding that the summary judgment dismissal did not have prospective application and that extraordinary circumstances did not exist here.

i. The Court of Appeals is incorrect that the summary judgment dismissal lacks prospective application because the order allowed foreclosure of a void security instrument.

This Court should accept review because the judgment here has prospective application as it allowed foreclosure of a void mortgage in violation of the statutory language of TILA and the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Jesinoski*. The Bakers are entitled to relief under CR 60(b)(6) because it is inequitable for the judgment to have prospective application. The Court of Appeals found that the summary judgment dismissal in the underlying case lacked prospective application, failing to recognize the unique procedural context of nonjudicial foreclosures and that the mortgage loan was void when the notice of rescission was effectively sent.

The Bakers faced a nonjudicial foreclosure due to the summary judgment dismissal by the superior court. Nonjudicial foreclosure is a

process whose procedures are strictly prescribed by the Washington Deed of Trust Act. Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs. of Wash., Inc., 174 Wn.2d 560, 567, 276 P.3d 1277 (2012). The protections borrowers enjoy in judicial foreclosure, such as oversight from the judiciary and ability to bring affirmative defenses, are lacking. *Id.* In a nonjudicial foreclosure, there is no decree of foreclosure or order of sale from a court. Klem v. Washington Mutual Bank, 176 Wn.2d 771, 788, 295 P.3d 1179 (2012). Instead, a borrower must affirmatively seek an injunction and raise their own claims if there is a defense to the sale. See generally Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Group, LLC, 177 Wn.2d 94, 110-13, 297 P.3d 677 (2013). Washington courts have found that judgments ordering the sale of real property, a typical outcome in judicial foreclosures, have prospective application. See, e.g. Pacific Sec. Companies v. Tanglewood, Inc., 57 Wn. App. 817, 790 P.2d 643 (1990). As such, their counterpart in nonjudicial foreclosures, dismissal of a borrower's claims enjoining a nonjudicial foreclosure, likewise have prospective application as both orders permit a foreclosure to continue and disposes of the borrower's defenses to foreclosure.

Here, in the underlying action, the Bakers obtained a preliminary injunction to enjoin the then-pending nonjudicial foreclosure on the property and made every payment into the court registry as required.

Then, summary judgment dissolved the injunction, allowing the foreclosure of a void mortgage loan to continue, even in the face of this appeal. The Court of Appeals' decision is in odds with the statutory language of TILA and the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Jesinoski* because the mortgage was void and yet the foreclosure occurred.

The Bakers acknowledge the Court of Appeals' concerns that every judgment could have some reverberations in the future. However, the Bakers are not arguing that every summary judgment dismissal has prospective application, but rather that the summary judgment dismissal in their case has prospective application as it allowed the nonjudicial foreclosure of a void note. As the Court of Appeals' decision is in contrast with TILA and *Jesinoski* in that it fails to recognize that the mortgage loan was void, this Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3).

ii. The Court of Appeals is incorrect that extraordinary circumstances do not exist here.

This Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals is incorrect that extraordinary circumstances do not exist here when the summary judgment dismissal allowed foreclosure of a void mortgage in contrast to *Jesinoski* and the statutory language of TILA. The Bakers are entitled to relief under CR 60(b)(11) because the issuance of *Jesinoski*

constitutes extraordinary circumstances. Both Washington and federal courts have found changes in law, when combined with other factors, constitute extraordinary circumstances warranting relief from judgment. See, e.g., Flannagan v. Flannagan, 42 Wn. App. 214, 709 P.2d 1247 (1985); Phelps v. Alameida, 569 F.3d 1120 (9th Cir. 2009). Moreover, there was not a mere change in law here, but rather confirmation of the plain language meaning of TILA by the Supreme Court in Jesinoski, which held the federal Truth in Lending statute never required a suit to enforce the rescission be filed within three years. The Bakers fall into this category due to the issuance of Jesinoski and the particular circumstances of this case.

Respondents have argued throughout the course of this appeal that the principles of finality warrant denial of the Bakers' motion for relief from judgment. By going forward with a sale in the face of this appeal, it is hard to credit Respondents' calls to the virtues of finality, since they created the "finality" by foreclosing. Respondents had notice of this appeal well before the foreclosure sale, and all three parties had constructive notice of lis pendens. Respondents would be unjustly enriched if allowed to reap the proceeds of an invalid foreclosure sale based on a void deed of trust. Indeed, Respondent NWTS conducted the foreclosure sale and submitted the Trustee's Deed in these proceedings

presumably so it could argue that the foreclosure was truly final and the third party purchaser would suffer hardship if relief from judgment was granted. This is a problem created by Respondent NWTS. As the principles of finality are not offended, and the issuance of *Jesinoski* confirming that a rescission is effective when sent with its relation to the nonjudicial foreclosure, the Court of Appeals' decision is in contrast to the law of the United States, and this Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3).

C. This Court Should Accept Review Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) as Public Interest is Affected When TILA is Not Enforced

This case involves an issue of substantial public interest which the Supreme Court should determine. The Court of Appeals' decision, with its implications for all persons who exercised their right to rescind their mortgage pre-Jesinoski, satisfies this standard. The Bakers properly exercised their TILA right to rescind their mortgage loan and satisfied all the statutory requirements. The Bakers then lost their home to foreclosure after the purported holder of a void mortgage foreclosed on their property.

TILA is a federal statute designed to protect consumers. It gives consumers the remedy of rescission when certain disclosure requirements are not met. The Bakers properly rescinded their mortgage loan under TILA—there is no dispute about that. There cannot be a valid foreclosure

if the mortgage loan was rescinded. All parties to the foreclosure proceeding had notice of the Bakers' interest due to the recording of lis pendens, and both PennyMac and NWTS had notice of this appeal during the foreclosure proceedings. As such, the foreclosure sale was conducted at Respondents' own risk. Moreover, under RCW 61.24, et seq., a void, rescinded deed of trust cannot support a nonjudical foreclosure. As the mortgage was validly rescinded and the foreclosure void, it would be inequitable for the judgment to stand. As such, this Court should grant review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4).

VI. **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons set out above, the Bakers respectfully request that this Court accept review of the decision in Baker v. PennyMac, No. 47395-0-II, and apply federal law as set forth in *Jesinoski*. Respectfully submitted this 17th day of June 2016.

Amanda N. Martin

Attorneys for Petitioners

WSBA #3516

WSBA #49581



May 10, 2016

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

TODD and THERESA BAKER, husband and wife,

Appellants,

No. 47395-0-II

1 1

٧.

NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC., PENNYMAC LOAN SERVICES, LLC,

UNPUBLISHED OPINION

Respondents.

WORSWICK, P.J. — In 2011, Todd and Theresa Baker filed suit to stay the foreclosure of their real property and to obtain a declaratory judgment that their loan was properly rescinded three years prior. The superior court granted summary judgment against the Bakers. The Bakers did not appeal then, but in 2015, filed a CR 60(b) motion, seeking relief from the summary judgment dismissal. The superior court denied their motion. The Bakers now appeal the denial of their CR 60(b) motion, arguing that it would be inequitable to apply the judgment prospectively given the Supreme Court's decision in *Jesinoski v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.*, _____ U.S. ____, 135 S. Ct. 790, 190 L. Ed. 2d 650 (2015), and that extraordinary circumstances exist. We disagree and affirm.

FACTS

I. BRIEF HISTORY OF TRUTH IN LENDING ACT

The Truth in Lending Act (TILA) is a consumer protection law intended to guarantee a meaningful disclosure of credit terms at the time a loan is executed. 15 U.S.C §§ 1601-1667f. A borrower generally has a three-day right to rescind after the closing of a loan transaction,