#### RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jul 15, 2016, 2:03 pm

#### RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 93206-9

Court of Appeals No. 47395-0-II

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### TODD BAKER AND THERESA BAKER,

Appellants,

VS.

PENNYMAC LOAN SERVICES, LLC, NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC.,

Respondents.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW OF RESPONDENTS PENNYMAC LOAN SERVICES, LLC AND NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC.

Averil Rothrock, WSBA #24248
Email: <a href="mailto:arothrock@schwabe.com">arothrock@schwabe.com</a>
Claire L. Rootjes, WSBA #42178
Email: <a href="mailto:crootjes@schwabe.com">crootjes@schwabe.com</a>
SCHWABE, WILLIAMSON &

#### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS

Respondents PennyMac Loan Services, LLC ("PennyMac") and Northwest Trustee Services, Inc. ("NWTS") jointly oppose discretionary review.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

In an unpublished decision, Division II of the Court of Appeals correctly applied settled Washington law to affirm the discretionary denial of the Bakers' motion for post-judgment relief under Civil Rule 60(b). The May 10, 2016 opinion in *Baker v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.*, No. 47395-0-II (hereafter "the Opinion") (attached), concerns the ordinary circumstance where a change in the law subsequent to final judgment presented no circumstances to justify reopening the judgment.

### III. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The case does not merit review of any issue. The decision is unique to the Bakers and broaches no new ground, as shown by the Court of Appeals' decision not to publish it.

The Bakers fail to identify issues proposed for review as required by RAP 13.4(c)(5), instead arguing the standards for discretionary review. *Revised Petition* 3-4. The decision under review is <u>not</u> the December 2012 final judgment, but the later March 2015 order denying the Bakers' request to reopen that judgment when the law later changed. The Bakers

do not present an issue suitable for this Court's review that focuses on the correct order. Nor do the Bakers show that the considerations for acceptance of review are implicated by that order.

#### IV. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2010, the Bakers were in default on their home loan. CP 23:16-18. PennyMac sought to nonjudicially foreclose. CP 23:18-24:5. The Bakers filed a lawsuit to enjoin the Trustee's Sale in April 2011 and obtained a preliminary injunction to restrain the sale. *Id.* at 6-8.

PennyMac moved for summary judgment to dismiss the Bakers' claims. CP 20-35. One of PennyMac's arguments was that the Bakers had not timely rescinded the loan under the Truth in Lending Act (TILA) because they had not commenced a lawsuit. CP 25:21-27:4. As the Bakers pointed out in their CR 60(b) motion, when PennyMac prevailed on that argument, a federal circuit court split existed regarding how a borrower must exercise the right to rescind. CP 98:21-26. See Jesinoski v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., 729 F.3d 1092, 1093 (8th Cir. 2013) (identifying the circuit split).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The split is demonstrated by the decisions in McOmie-Gray v. Bank of America, 667 F.3d 1325 (9th Cir. Feb. 8, 2012), and Rosenfield v. HSBC Bank, USA, 681 F.3d 1172 (10th Cir. June 11, 2012) that notice alone is insufficient to rescind a home loan and a lawsuit was necessary, contrasted with Gilbert v. Residential Funding LLC, 678 F.3d 271 (4th Cir. May 3, 2012) holding that notice to the lender is sufficient for rescission.

Final judgment was entered in favor of PennyMac and NWTS on December 21, 2012. CP 8-9. The Bakers chose not to appeal.

Over two years later in 2015, the United States Supreme Court resolved that circuit split. *Jesinoski v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.*, 135 S. Ct. 790 (2015). The Supreme Court held that it was sufficient for a borrower to invoke rescission through notice to the lender. *Id.* 

In February 2015, more than two years after they chose not to appeal the Superior Court's final judgment, the Bakers moved for relief from the final judgment pursuant to CR 60(b), seeking to achieve the benefit of the *Jesinoski* ruling. CP 98-114. They asked the Clark County Superior Court to "relieve them from its prior Order and Judgment and reopen the case for proper disposition." CP 100:3-5. PennyMac and NWTS opposed the motion on grounds that this subsequent change in the law does not justify relief from the final judgment. CP 115-28. The Superior Court denied the CR 60(b) motion. CP 160(b)-62.

The Bakers appealed that denial. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

## V. ARGUMENT: THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION BECAUSE THE GROUNDS ASSERTED ARE NOT SUFFICIENT TO MERIT REVIEW

Review is unwarranted. The Bakers establish none of the grounds identified in RAP 13.4(b) for review. The Revised Petition fails to identify the issues this Court should accept and decide. This makes it difficult for

PennyMac and NWTS to answer.

Assuming the Court reads the Revised Petition to assert that review is justified because the decision conflicts with federal law and a public interest is presented, it should reject this contention and reject review.

## 1. No qualifying conflict of law exists to justify review.

The grounds for the Bakers' first argument for review are unclear. The Bakers cite RAP 13.4(b)(3) and argue that a "significant question of law of the United States" is involved. *Revised Petition* 3 at Issue 1. This ground, however, is related exclusively to significant questions of constitutional law, as the rule states. The Bakers present no constitutional issues. Therefore, review is not justified under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

The Bakers argue that they present a significant question of law "of the United States" "involving" the United States Supreme Court's decision *Jesinoski v. Countrywide Home Loans, Inc.*, 135 S. Ct. 790 (2015). *Revised Petition* 3 at 10-16. The Bakers fail to state what that issue is. The Bakers appear to assert that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with federal law, although the Rules of Appellate Procedure do not identify this as a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

Regarding any conflict, the outcome of the Bakers' original action appears inconsistent with the <u>subsequent</u> interpretation of the Truth in

Lending Act ("TILA") by the United States Supreme Court in the *Jesinoski* decision, because *Jesinoski* changed the law in the Ninth Circuit that applied when the Bakers' claims were decided. The Superior Court's final judgment of December 2012 is not subject to review. The Bakers never appealed that judgment to press their arguments or be in a position to benefit from a resolution of the circuit split. Moreover, they never sought a stay of the foreclosure once they had moved for CR 60(b) relief or during this appeal.

The order on review—entered more than two years later—is the Superior Court's March 2015 denial of the CR 60(b) motion to re-open the judgment. The Bakers fail to heed the directive that review of a CR 60(b) decision is limited to the Superior Court's decision on that motion, not the underlying judgment that the party seeks to vacate. See Bjurstrom v. Campbell, 27 Wn. App. 449, 450-51 (1986) ("[t]he exclusive procedure to attack an allegedly defective judgment is by appeal from the judgment, not by appeal from a denial of a CR 60(b) motion."). The Bakers' discussion of Jesinoski mistakenly addresses the underlying earlier judgment, not the denial of the motion to reopen.

The Bakers show no conflict between any cases or laws that relates to that denial of the CR 60(b) motion.

#### 2. <u>No public interest justifies review.</u>

The Bakers assert RAP 13.4(b)(4) as their second ground for review, claiming that issues of substantial public interest must be determined by the Supreme Court. *Revised Petition* 3-4 at Issue 2. This notion misses the mark. The Bakers do not actually identify a public interest implicated by the Court of Appeals' decision affirming denial of their CR 60(b) motion. The Bakers instead argue that a public interest arises from the failure to enforce TILA as interpreted in *Jesinoski*.

This argument also does not focus on the right order. The March 2015 order denying the motion to reopen does not involve a failure to enforce TILA. It concerns application of the standards under CR 60(b) for reopening a final judgment and the Superior Court's exercise of discretion to deny that motion. It concerns not TILA but the judicial system's significant interest in finality.

As the Court of Appeals recognized, the Superior Court was within its discretion to reject reopening in this ordinary circumstance where the law changed after the Bakers' case was finally decided. See, e.g., Columbia Rentals, Inc. v. State, 89 Wn.2d 819, 822 (1978) (Washington precedent has long refused to accept the notion that a "final judgment of a court . . . [can be] altered because of a changed judicial interpretation of

the law in a subsequent case.").2

In the Revised Petition, the Bakers simply re-argue whether they met those well-defined standards. They hope to achieve a different outcome in their case from a different decision-maker. They do not show that any public interest is implicated.

The Court of Appeals decision did not "uphold a void rescission," but simply affirmed the Superior Court's reasonable order not to reopen the final judgment due to a subsequent change in the law. This outcome is consistent with Washington law.

If the Bakers are asking this Court to grant review for an ultimate outcome, such theory would allow any homeowner who defaulted and went through a foreclosure sale based on pre-Jesinoski law to be able to come back to Washington courts and unwind past sales. The Bakers' desired result is not only unworkable, but is contrary to the express

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Numerous federal courts have denied motions for relief under the similar standards of Fed. R. Civ. P. 60(b) when they were brought based on a later change in the law. See, e.g., Adams v. Thaler, 679 F.3d 312, 320 (5th Cir. 2012) ("a change in decisional law... is 'not the kind of extraordinary circumstance that warrants relief under Rule 60(b)(6)'...."); GenCorp, Inc. v. Olin Corp., 477 F.3d 368, 374 (6th Cir. 2007) ("[w]e should deny relief to parties that, without justification, do not even present the {ultimately successful} argument on appeal."); Elec. Privacy Info. Ctr. v. U.S. Dep't of Homeland Sec., 811 F. Supp. 2d 216, 231 (D.D.C. 2011), citing Twist v. Ashcroft, 329 F. Supp. 2d 50 (D.D.C. 2004) ("[I]f a change in law after a judgment was rendered was grounds to vacate a final judgment, final judgments would cease to exist.")

provisions of RCW 61.24.127(2), prohibiting claims that affect a sale's finality, and contrary to core goals of the Deed of Trust Act to ensure an efficient, inexpensive foreclosure process and promote the stability of land titles. *Albice v. Premier Morg. Servs. of Wash., Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 560, 567 (2012).

Borrowers involved in present or future disputes will benefit from Jesinoski. But parties like the Bakers may not come back to court years later if the law changes.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

The Court should deny review on the basis that no criteria support acceptance of the Bakers' Petition concerning the Superior Court's order denying their CR 60(b) motion.